Rental Housing Community Improvement Plan 

Table of Contents

Section 1: Introduction and Context	1
1.1. What is a Community Improvement Plan?	1
1.2. Housing Affordability Crisis & Kingston's Housing Needs	2
1.3. Strategic Plan & Government Programs	6
1.4. Goal of this CIP	8
Section 2: Rental Housing CIP Program	9
2.1. CIP Project Area	9
2.2. Program Eligibility, Timelines And Requirements	9
2.3. Tax Increment Equivalent Grant Program	10
2.4. Vacant Land Tax Program	11
2.5. Affordable Rental Unit Incentive	12
Section 3: Implementation and Administration	13
3.1. Implementation	13
3.2. Administration & Delegated Authority	14
3.3. Financial Management	15
3.4. Monitoring & Amendments	16
3.5. Interpretation	16
3.6. Definitions	16





Section 1: Introduction and Context

1.1 What is a Community Improvement Plan?

1.1.1 A Community Improvement Plan (CIP) is a tool that the **City** can use to direct financial benefits and implement policy initiatives toward a specific geographical area. CIPs are intended to encourage rehabilitation initiatives and/or stimulate development. A CIP can include municipally driven initiatives (such as the acquisition or development of land) or incentive-based programs (such as grants, loans or tax assistance).

Section 106 of the *Municipal Act* prohibits municipalities from granting financial assistance to any manufacturing business or other industrial or commercial enterprise. Financial assistance includes giving or lending money or property, guaranteeing borrowing, leasing or selling property below fair market value or giving a total or partial exemption from any levy, charge or fee. An exception to this prohibition is the granting of financial assistance through the adoption of a CIP in accordance with Section 28 of the *Planning Act*.

Section 28 of the *Planning Act* allows municipalities to provide financial assistance through a grant or loan in conformity with the CIP. A municipality must have CIP policies in its Official Plan before a CIP By-law can be passed to designate a Community Improvement Project Area and before **Council** can adopt a CIP. Once adopted, a CIP allows the municipality to provide grants or loans as financial incentives in accordance with the *Planning Act* and the *Municipal Act*. When a CIP is adopted for environmental remediation purposes, a municipality may also provide tax assistance.

1.1.2 The **City's** Official Plan includes CIP policies in Section 9.8 to revitalize various uses and areas and identifies all lands within the municipal boundary as being eligible to be designated as a CIP Project Area through a by-law and for which a detailed CIP can be prepared. The designation of a CIP Project Area and the approval of a CIP are at the discretion of **Council**.

Policy 9.8.4. of the Official Plan allows **Council** to utilize financial assistance programs through a CIP where **Council** is satisfied that its participation will be within the financial capabilities of the **City**. Policies 9.8.5. to 9.8.7. identify the criteria, objectives and implementation strategies for designating a CIP Project Area through a by-law and approving a CIP.

1.2. Housing Affordability Crisis & Kingston's Housing Needs

The Housing Crisis

1.2.1. Canada is in the midst of a national housing crisis where the supply of housing does not meet the current demand. This has contributed to an overall housing affordability crisis where the cost of buying or renting housing has increased beyond what is considered affordable for many Canadians.

Economic Impacts

1.2.2. In the shadow of a disruptive global pandemic, Canada's national economy has struggled with rising inflation and interest rates, and significant increases in the overall cost of living. In Kingston, while there are over 8,200 residential units that have zoning approvals that have not yet obtained building permits, the 2024 building permit season is off to a slow start with permits issued for 44 residential units in January and February of 2024, compared to 370 residential unit permits during the same period in 2023.

Through various discussions with homebuilders and developers, rising interest rates and the cost of financing have been identified as a major cause delaying new housing construction and slowing down the real estate market. Municipal financial incentives have the potential to positively impact the financial outlook of a construction project and may ultimately be the difference maker that results in an underutilized or vacant property being developed with new **rental units**.

Section 1: Introduction and Context

Kingston's Rental Housing Needs

- 1.2.3. The **City** recently completed a Housing Needs Assessment (attached as <u>Exhibit A to Report Number 23-172</u>) which details Kingston's housing needs. A summary of pertinent rental housing findings from the Housing Needs Assessment is listed below, including updates where more recent data has been released:
 - In 2021, 56% of Kingston's housing units were owner-occupied and 44% were tenant occupied rental units.
 - 95% of the city's housing stock is market housing and 5% is publicly funded or provided by non-profit agencies (non-market).
 - Kingston's rental housing stock consists of approximately 25% primary rental market households, 15% secondary rental market households, and 5% non-market housing. The Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) defines the primary rental market as purpose-built buildings with three or more units and the secondary rental market as buildings with three or fewer units.
 - Between 2006 and 2021, Kingston's rental market experienced significant growth, expanding from an estimated 18,500 units in 2006 to 25,500 units in 2021. Approximately 70% of the growth is attributable to secondary rental market units. Kingston's rental market supply includes approximately 14,600 (57%) primary rental market units and 10,900 (43%) secondary rental market units.
 - Over the past ten years, Kingston Census Metropolitan Area's (CMA) average vacancy rate was 1.9%. Following the completion of the Housing Needs Assessment, CMHC released their newest vacancy rate data which shows that Kingston CMA's 2023 vacancy rate fell to 0.8%, which is the lowest vacancy rate for CMA in Ontario. A healthy vacancy rate is 3%.
 - Kingston's non-market housing supply includes approximately 3,160 units, of which 46% are social housing units owned by non-profit organizations, 18% are supportive housing, 12% are rent supplement, 9% are affordable housing, 6% are emergency shelter, 5% are transitional housing, and 4% are portable housing benefit.
 - Rents in Kingston's non-market housing are significantly below market rents. For example, the average rent for a one-bedroom, non-market unit is \$410 per month versus the average market rent of \$1,329 per month.

- The average rent for primary market units increased 25% between 2017 and 2022. There is a significant shortage of rental housing that is considered to be affordable for households earning less than \$30,000 per year. To fulfill the shortage there is a current need of 2,300 units with rents of less than \$750 per month.
- There is a need for approximately 400 housing solutions to address the roughly 400 households that are currently homeless. Since the preparation of the Housing Needs Assessment, in February 2024, the By-Name List of homelessness includes approximately 530 individuals.
- There is a current need for approximately 500 rental units to bring the market into balance which is determined to be reflected in a 3% vacancy rate.
- To serve the current demand in the rental housing market, there is a total need for 3,200 rental units, including 2,300 units with rents under \$750 per month, 400 housing solutions to house homeless households and individuals, and 500 units to achieve a balanced rental market, as noted above.
- Approximately 1,300 units per year are required to meet the ten-year growth forecast. Of the 13,000 units required over the next ten years, forecast demand is for 67% rental and 33% ownership, equating to 871 rental units per year every year for the next ten years.
- The supply pipeline aligns well with the forecast demand over the next ten years, however, a considerable portion of approximately 39%, or 5,100 units, would need to be non-market housing. Accordingly, there would need to be a considerable increase in the number of non-market housing projects to meet the anticipated non-market housing demand.
- To pursue the housing needs of the growing community, a mix of regulatory and financial incentives are required that stimulate the development of a range of medium- and high-density housing projects.

The Housing Continuum

1.2.4. The housing continuum refers to the range of affordable housing options that are available for individuals and families based on income and self-sufficiency. At one end of the continuum are emergency shelter and transitional housing programs. The **City** works with a variety of non-profit organizations to provide temporary shelter and interim,

transitional housing and support services for people who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. Supportive housing provides housing for people who require ongoing support services to remain adequately housed. Transitional and supportive housing typically provide housing for individuals on social assistance or other fixed income; accordingly, monthly rents are quite low and require public subsidization for the housing project to be financially viable.

Rent-geared-to-income housing, also known as public or social housing, is another type of affordable housing where the rent is based on a percentage of the tenant's income, ensuring that tenants pay an affordable amount of rent and still have money left over for other necessities. The **City** contributes funding assistance to a variety of organizations in the community to provide approximately 2,000 rent-geared-to-income units or rent subsidies. Like supportive and transitional housing, rent-geared-to-income housing programs require considerable ongoing public funding subsidization.



Image 1: Kingston's Housing Continuum

In today's rental housing market, **low and moderate income households** may still struggle to afford market-rent housing while meeting other costs of living. For individuals and households that do not qualify for social housing, affordable rental housing programs reduce the costs of developing new housing so that a portion of units can be rented at or below the average market rate. These housing programs play a critical role in creating new rental housing supply that helps to meet the housing needs of the community.

The objective of this CIP is to encourage the development of new rental housing supply by providing a reduction in property taxes after the completion of the project. This is crucial in addressing the low availability of rental housing in the community, which has resulted in high rent rates with low vacancy. This CIP also offers an additional incentive to developers who agree to rent some of the units at the average market rent. While there are other initiatives in place to address the emergency accommodation and housing needs for social assistance and other low-income households, this program is designed to promote housing affordability for those **low and moderate income households** struggling to afford market-rent housing.

Kingston's Forecasted Population Growth and Housing Demand

1.2.5. Council recently endorsed the recommended population growth forecast in <u>Report Number 24-016</u>, which projects a population growth from 154,100 people to 220,900 people by 2051, representing 66,800 new residents, 29,300 new houses and 33,400 new jobs over the next 27 years. This growth projection is greater than what Kingston has experienced or projected over the past decade and is anticipated to generate a steady demand for new ownership and rental housing to accommodate the Kingston's growing permanent and student populations.

1.3. Strategic Plan & Government Programs

Kingston's Strategic Plan

1.3.1. <u>Kingston's 2023-2026 Strategic Plan</u> identifies five central priorities that are designed to help the community build more, move better and grow faster together. With measurable targets focused on increasing housing supply, investing in vibrant public spaces, driving inclusive economic growth and promoting a safe, healthy and welcoming community, the Strategic Plan is focused on making Kingston a healthy, happy and vibrant community. The very first pillar of the Strategic Plan is to support housing affordability with a specific target of 4,800 residential permits issued within the four-year term, including 10% as affordable and supportive housing solutions.

Under the support housing affordability pillar of the Strategic Plan, the implementation plan identifies the following objectives, each of which is supported by concrete actions:

- promote increased supply and affordability of housing;
- promote increase in purpose-built rental housing;
- increase the supply of new-build not-for-profit and co-op housing and ensure sustainability and quality of existing stock; and
- improve service to unhoused and precariously housed.

One of the concrete actions connected to promoting an increase in purpose-built rental housing is to consider a community improvement plan with incremental property taxes as a financial incentive for purpose-built rental housing. A community improvement plan is also identified as one of the concrete actions connected to the increased supply of housing as a development incentive mechanism to accelerate the realization of approved residential units.

Provincial Initiatives

1.3.2. Over the past two years, the provincial government has introduced a number of initiatives and legislative changes that are, at their foundation, intended to spark a paradigm shift in housing in order to meet a provincial goal of building 1.5 million new homes by 2031. One of the provincial initiatives included a request to the largest and fastest growing municipalities in Ontario to prepare a Municipal Housing Pledge in response to the target established by the province. Council endorsed Kingston's Municipal Housing Pledge in February of 2023, confirming that the City pledges to build at least 8,000 units by 2031 and is committed to taking actions to help reduce costs and increase the supply of housing using all tools and resources that are available to municipalities.

<u>Announced in August 2023</u>, the Building Faster Fund is a threeyear, \$1.2 billion provincial program that is designed to encourage municipalities to address the housing supply crisis and is structured to reward municipalities that make significant progress against their targets and Municipal Housing Pledge. The Building Faster Fund is intended to support housing-enabling and community-enabling infrastructure and is provided to municipalities that have reached at least 80 per cent of their provincially assigned housing target for the year with increased funding for municipalities that exceed their target.

According to the <u>Provincial housing tracker</u>, Kingston exceeded the target in 2023 at 250%.

Federal Housing Accelerator Fund

1.3.3. Through an application process administered by the CMHC, the federal government created a \$4 billion fund for municipalities called the Housing Accelerator Fund (HAF). The intent of HAF is to incentivize municipalities to implement land use planning and development initiatives that support and accelerate the construction of new housing.

On August 8, 2023, Council directed staff to submit a HAF application with the initiatives identified in <u>Report Number 23-172</u> to the CMHC, which included the completion of a community improvement plan. During CMHC's review of the City's HAF application, Council passed a motion on <u>November 21, 2023</u> as a direct response to a request from CMHC which directed staff to include additional initiatives as an enhancement the City's HAF application.

On January 18, 2024, CMHC announced that Kingston's HAF application was successful and awarded \$27.6 million to the City for affordable housing, housing initiatives and housing-supportive infrastructure over a three-year period.

1.4. Goal of this CIP

- 1.4.1. In accordance with the Community Improvement Area policies of the Official Plan, *Council*'s Strategic Plan, the findings of the Housing Needs Assessment and the *Council*-endorsed initiatives connected to the City's successful HAF application, the goal of this CIP is to help to address the ongoing housing affordability crisis and low rental vacancy rates by reducing financial barriers for new rental apartment buildings with incentives intended to:
 - increase the number of affordable rental apartments;
 - increase in the number of purpose-built rental apartments; and
 - accelerate the timing of the construction of planned purpose-built rental apartments to bring more units on the market sooner.



Section 2: Rental Housing CIP Program

2.1. CIP Project Area

2.1.1. This CIP applies to all lands within the **urban boundary**.

2.2. Program Eligibility, Timelines and Requirements

- 2.2.1. **Property** owners are eligible for the TIEG Program outlined in Section 2.3. and may be eligible for the VLT Program in Section 2.4. and the Affordable Rental Unit Incentive program in Section 2.5. if they meet all of the following criteria:
 - 1. The **property** is to be **developed** with a **rental apartment building** within the **urban boundary** and the development of the **rental apartment building** results in an increase in **property taxes**.
 - 2. The **property** owner is not exempt from the payment of **property taxes**.
 - 3. An application for this CIP is submitted to the **Director** prior to the issuance of full building permits in an application form to the satisfaction of the **City**, including an estimated cost of construction of the **rental apartment building**.
 - 4. The **Director** has issued a written response to the **property** owner and the **Chief Financial Officer** confirming that the **property** is eligible for specified financial programs in this CIP following receipt of the application, subject to fulfilling criteria 5 through 9 below.

- 5. The **property** is eligible for and obtains full building permits for the **rental apartment building** from the **Chief Building Official** between the date this CIP comes into effect, and on or before December 31, 2026.
- 6. The **property** is eligible for and obtains occupancy permits for the **rental apartment building** from the **Chief Building Official** within three years of receipt of the full building permit and all deficiencies have been addressed to the satisfaction of the **Chief Building Official**.
- 7. All **property taxes** have been paid in full at the time of application to the TIEG Program.
- 8. The **property** is not subject to any Fire or Building Code orders.
- 9. The **rental apartment building** is secured through an agreement registered on title of the **property** in accordance with Section 28(11) of the *Planning Act* to the satisfaction of the **City**.
- 2.2.2. For **properties** that meet all eligibility requirements of Section 2.2.1., eligible costs for the purpose of Section 28(7) of the *Planning Act* are the construction costs of the eligible **rental apartment building**, to a maximum grant value stipulated in 2.3.1., 2.4.4., and 2.5.
- 2.2.3 This CIP is repealed on Jan. 1, 2033

2.3. Tax Increment Equivalent Grant Program

- 2.3.1. Where a **property** will be **developed** with a **rental apartment building** that meets all eligibility requirements of Section 2.2., the **property** owner is eligible for the Tax Increment Equivalent Grant Program (TIEG Program) to be administered by the **City's** Taxation Services as follows:
 - Following completion of construction and occupancy, and once the new construction has been assessed by Municipal Property Assessment Corporation, the City will grant the property owner with a property tax credit equivalent to 50% of the municipal portion of incremental property taxes for the property for two years, based on the difference between the municipal portion of the post construction property taxes and the municipal portion of the pre-construction property taxes for the eligible rental apartment building.

Section 2: Rental Housing CIP Program

- 2. The **property** tax credit will be calculated and commence the first full calendar year following receipt of the new **assessment value**.
- 3. In accordance with Section 28(7.3) of the *Planning Act*, the combined value of the grants provided through the TIEG Program and the VLT Program must not exceed the eligible cost identified in Section 2.2.2.

2.4. Vacant Land Tax Program

- 2.4.1. Where a **property** is vacant and will be **developed** with a **rental apartment building** that meets all eligibility requirements of Section 2.2., the **property** owner is eligible for the Vacant Land Tax Program (VLT Program) stipulated in Section 2.4.4.
- 2.4.2. Where a **property** is **developed** with an existing building that will be **developed** in a manner that eliminates existing uses in the existing building by converting the whole of the existing building or demolishing the existing building to develop a **rental apartment building** that meets all eligibility requirements of Section 2.2., the **property** owner is eligible for the VLT Program stipulated in Section 2.4.4.
- 2.4.3. Where a **property** is **developed** with an existing building that will continue to be occupied and used for any existing purposes while another portion of the same **property** is **developed** with an eligible **rental apartment building**, the **property** owner is not eligible for the VLT Program.
- 2.4.4. The VLT Program will be administered by the **City's** Taxation Services as follows:
 - While the eligible rental apartment building is actively under construction, which, at a minimum, includes the pouring of foundations and continuous progress towards the completion of the development, to the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official, the City will grant the property owner with a property tax credit equivalent to the municipal portion of property taxes that apply to the vacant property for a maximum period of two years or until an occupancy permit is obtained for the rental apartment building, whichever occurs first.
 - 2. In accordance with Section 28(7.3) of the *Planning Act*, the combined value of the grants provided through the TIEG Program and the VLT Program must not exceed the eligible cost identified in Section 2.2.2.

3. In accordance with Section 28(7.3) of the *Planning Act*, the combined value of the grants provided through the TIEG Program and the VLT Program must not exceed the eligible cost identified in Section 2.2.2.

2.5. Affordable Rental Unit Incentive

- 2.5.1. In addition to the TIEG Program, where a **rental apartment building** meets all eligibility requirements of Section 2.2. and includes **affordable rental units**, the **affordable rental units** will be awarded an additional Affordable Rental Unit Incentive that effectively doubles the TIEG Program financial incentives for the **affordable rental units** only.
- 2.5.2. After an eligible **rental apartment building** enters into the required agreement with the **City** to meet the definition of an affordable rental unit, the **Director** will provide written confirmation to the **property** owner and the **Chief Financial Officer** that the **property** qualifies for a specified Affordable Rental Unit Incentive subject to fulfilling all eligibility requirements of Section 2.2.
- 2.5.3. Where an eligible **rental apartment building** includes a mix of market **rental units** and **affordable rental units**, the **City's** Taxation Services will calculate the additional TIEG Program benefits in a proportionate manner. For example, if a building includes 100 **rental units** and 50 of those units are **affordable rental units**, the TIEG Program benefits will be calculated at a total of 75% of the municipal portion of incremental **property taxes** to be credited for two years.
- 2.5.4. The intent of the Affordable Rental Unit Incentive is to help offset the revenue loss experienced by the developer or housing provider for incorporating **affordable rental units** in their development (i.e. the difference between the market rent that would have been collected for the **dwelling unit** and the affordable rent over the full affordability period).



Section 3: Implementation and Administration

3.1. Implementation

- 3.1.1. Where a **property** is **developed** with more than one building and only one or a portion of the total number of **rental apartment buildings** meet all eligibility requirements in Section 2.2., the TIEG Program and VLT Program financial benefits will be calculated by the **City's** Taxation Services in a manner that represents the new **assessment value** connected to the eligible **rental apartment buildings** only.
- 3.1.2. Where a **property** is **developed** with an existing building as of the date this CIP comes into effect, and that building is converted in a manner that results in the creation of at least seven net new **rental units**, the **conversion** is considered a **rental apartment building** for the purpose of this CIP. The TIEG Program and VLT Program financial benefits will be calculated by the **City's** Taxation Services in a manner that represents the new **assessment value** connected to the development of the new eligible **rental units** only.
- 3.1.3. Where a **property** is receiving funding through the **City's** Brownfield Community Improvement Program, the **property** may also be eligible for the Rental Housing CIP programs outlined in Section 2 if it meets all eligibility requirements.
- 3.1.4. A **property** that is eligible for the Affordable Rental Unit Incentive may be eligible for other financial incentives provided by the **City** and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis to the satisfaction of the **Director** of Housing & Social Services, or their designate.

- 3.1.5. Where a **property** is **developed** with a **rental apartment building** that is eligible for this CIP and the **property** is subsequently sold to a different owner, applicable financial programs of this CIP can be assigned to the subsequent owner if the subsequent owner agrees to all terms and conditions to the satisfaction of the **City** Solicitor.
- 3.1.6. Where a **property** is **developed** with a **rental apartment building** that is eligible for this CIP and the **property** owner receives any grant through this CIP, the **property** must remain an occupied **rental apartment building** for a minimum of 15 years following occupancy, and during such time the **property** is not permitted to be converted to a condominium.

3.2. Administration & Delegated Authority

- 3.2.1. The **Director**, or their designate, will report to the Commissioner of Growth & Development Services for the purposes of this CIP. The **Director** has delegated authority to confirm eligibility in accordance with Section 2.2.
- 3.2.2. In the event of a disagreement between a **property** owner and the **Director** about eligibility of a **property**, the Commissioner of Growth & Development Services, or their designate, will make the determination about its eligibility and may seek *Council*'s direction.
- 3.2.3. The **Director** has delegated authority to approve all necessary agreements on behalf of the **City** to facilitate this CIP.
- 3.2.4. Where the **Director** has provided written notice of eligibility of a **property** to the **Chief Financial Officer**, the **Chief Financial Officer**, or their designate, has delegated authority to implement the financial components of this CIP.
- 3.2.5. Despite the definition of rental apartment building and rental unit in Section 3.6., where a property is developed with a multi-unit residential building containing 7 or more dwelling units that is owned through an alternative ownership model such as co-operative housing intended to provide an affordable ownership model, the property owner may submit a request to *Council* through the Commissioner requesting that their property is determined to be eligible for one or more elements of this CIP. Where a resolution of *Council* is adopted in this regard that would have the effect of confirming eligibility and providing some or all of the grants provided through this CIP to such property, no formal amendment to this CIP is required. *Council* may identify specific conditions, modifications or restrictions in such resolution.

Section 3: Implementation and Administration

3.3. Financial Management

3.3.1. As part of the annual municipal budget process, staff forecast assessment growth, which includes the number of new **rental apartment buildings** that are anticipated to be **developed** based on building permit trends. This forecast establishes a baseline assumption of new **city**-wide **property** assessment growth and related municipal **property taxes** available to support future budgets, as a result of the development of new **rental apartment buildings** in any one year.

The financial incentive programs in this CIP have been designed to be self-funding. The program assumes that a projected number of **rental units** beyond the **City's** baseline assumption will be constructed over the next 3 to 6 years. Based on this assumption, incremental **property taxes** resulting from the increased number of units will be used to fund the costs of the TIEG Program.

The program is designed to break even over a three-year period, with the additional assessment growth and related municipal **property taxes** available to support operating budgets in subsequent years.

In the event that this CIP does not incentivize the anticipated increase in the number of newly constructed **rental units**, the **City** will utilize other sources of funding such as HAF monies to offset the costs of providing this program.

HAF monies can also be used to fund any additional costs related to the Affordable Rental Unit Incentive, the Vacant Land Tax Program and costs related to **properties** already receiving tax incremental based funding through the **City's** Brownfield Community Improvement Program.

Staff have reviewed various scenarios and potential outcomes of these programs in detail and are satisfied that the financial incentives offered through this CIP will be within the financial capabilities of the **City**.

3.4. Monitoring & Amendments

- 3.4.1. Minor and technical amendments, such as the correction of typographical errors, revisions to definitions and administrative details of specific programs, may be made by the **Director** without *Council* approval.
- 3.4.2. The **Director**, **Chief Financial Officer** and **Chief Building Official** will monitor the uptake and anticipated financial impacts of this program up to December 31, 2026. In the event amendments are required to this program prior to December 31, 2026 or if it is determined that the **City** would benefit from an extension of the eligibility period, the **Director** will bring forward proposed amendments for **Council**'s consideration. Any substantive amendments to this CIP or extension of the eligibility period are at the sole discretion of **Council** and will be subject to the statutory requirements of the *Planning Act*.
- 3.4.3. Any substantive amendments to this CIP or extension of the eligibility period are at the sole discretion of **Council** and a by-law must be passed to adopt such amendments in accordance with the requirements of the *Planning Act*.

3.5. Interpretation

3.5.1. Interpretation of this CIP is at the sole discretion of the **Director**.

3.6. Definitions

3.6.1. In this CIP, if words, terms or phrases are formatted in a **bold** font, the following definitions and interpretations apply and any words not specifically defined in this Section carry their ordinary meaning: Affordable Rental Unit means a **dwelling unit** used as a rented residential premises for which:

1. The rent meets either the definition provided in the *Development Charges Act* or according to the most recent CMHC, at the sole discretion of the **Director**, as follows:

(a) A maximum of 30% of the gross annual income for low and moderate income households; or

Section 3: Implementation and Administration

- (b) A maximum of the average market rent for the same size dwelling unit (by bedroom count) in the regional market area; and
- 2. The tenant is dealing at **arm's length** with the landlord; and

3. The **affordable rental unit** is secured through an agreement executed by the **City** registered on title of the **property** in accordance with Section 28(11) of the *Planning Act* during the affordability term requiring:

- (a) An affordability term set for a minimum of 15 years;
- (b) Following the initial occupancy, during the affordability term, the rent must not increase by more than the annual *Residential Tenancies Act* guideline increase;
- (c) It is the **property** owner's responsibility to ensure that the tenants who occupy **affordable rental units** qualify based on household income to ensure that future residents are low and moderate income households; and
- (d) Annual reporting on the **affordable rental units** in a form satisfactory to the **City**.

Arm's Length has the same meaning as **arm's length** in section 251 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) with necessary modifications.

Assessment Value means the assessment for real **property** made under the Assessment Act according to the last returned assessment roll.

Building means anything that is comprised of components joined together and that stands more or less permanently in one place. A **building** includes all components such as walls, roof, floors, structural systems, columns, plumbing, fixtures, service systems, private sewage systems, decks, porches, canopies, architectural features, chimneys, mechanical systems and any component that is attached to a **building**. This definition excludes all items that are designed to be easily portable.

Chief Building Official means the municipal official appointed pursuant to the Building Code Act, 1992, S.O. 1992, c. 23 and includes their authorized representatives.

Chief Financial Officer means the City's Chief Financial Officer, or their designate, or in the event of organizational changes, the appropriately titled position.

City means the Corporation of the City of Kingston.

Convert means to change the use of an existing **property** or **building**, or a part thereof, to another use.

Co-Living Unit means the use of a **building** intended for rented residential accommodation where private bedrooms and/or living spaces share the use of one common kitchen and may share common washroom facilities or living spaces.

Council means the Municipal **Council** of the Corporation of the **City** of Kingston.

Develop or Development means to:

- 1. Convert to a different use; or
- 2. Alter, enlarge, erect, build, construct, reconstruct, relocate, renovate or restore **buildings** or parts thereof.

Director means the **City's Director**, Planning Services, or their designate, or in the event of organizational changes, the **Director** of the appropriately titled department.

Dwelling Unit means the use of a **building**, comprised of one or more habitable rooms designed to provide at least one washroom and kitchen for residential accommodation. This definition excludes bunkhouses, recreational vehicles, travel trailers, tent trailers or motor homes. For the purpose of this CIP, **dwelling unit** includes **co-living units** at a ratio of four private bedrooms and/or living spaces in a **co-living unit** to one **dwelling unit**.

Hotel means the use of any **property** or **building** for the temporary lodging of the travelling public or for recreation purposes, but excludes any Short-term Rental as defined in the **City's** Short-Term Rental Licensing By-law.

Low and Moderate Income Households means households with incomes in the lowest 60 percent of the income distribution for renter households in the regional market area.

Planning Act means the *Planning Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13.

Post-Secondary Institution means a university, college of applied arts and technology or other post-secondary institution established pursuant to the *Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.19.

Property means a single parcel, tract of land or parcel of tied land, in each case that may be conveyed in compliance with the provisions of the *Planning Act or the Condominium Act, 1998*, excluding a unit, as that term is defined in the *Condominium Act, 1998*, or a **common element**.

Property Owner means registered owner(s) of a property within the designated project area, and any person to whom such an owner has assigned the right to receive a grant or loan pursuant to this CIP.



Property Tax means the **City's** component of the levy on a **property** based on the **assessment value** and municipal tax rate, excluding any components that are payable to school boards or other external agencies.

Rental Apartment Building means a multi-unit residential **building** that is used for residential purposes that has seven or more self-contained **rental units**. A **rental apartment building** may also include commercial uses or other non-residential uses which would not be eligible for the TIEG Program.

Rental Unit means a **dwelling unit** that is rented for long-term residential accommodation where the tenant is dealing at **arm's length** with the landlord. This definition excludes:

- 1. Short-term rentals, as defined in the **City's** Short-Term Rental Licensing By-law;
- 2. hotel;
- 3. dwelling units that are owned by a post-secondary institution; and
- **4. dwelling units** that are held in separate ownership from the owner of the **lot** or **building** in which they are located, such as a condominium unit or common element as defined in the *Condominium Act, 1998*.

Urban Boundary means the area delineated as "**Urban Boundary**" on Schedule 2 (**City** Structure) of the **City** of Kingston Official Plan.

